2008-KA-00551-COA t

I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record for the Appellant hereby certifies that the following persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. This representation is made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

- 1. Eddie L. Henderson, Batesville, Ms.
- 2. Linda Jefferson, Batesville, Ms.
- 3. David L. Walker, Batesville, Ms.
- 4. James S. Hale, Jr. Batesville, Ms.

Respectfully submitted,

This the 7thday of July 2008.

David L. Walker MBN Counsel for Appellant

II.

V.STATEMENT OF ISSUE

Whether the trial court erred in permitting the assistant district attorney to cross examine the Appellant as to why he did not come and tell the police his reason for being at the apartment of the alleged victim and five the police a statement in violation of the 5th Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article III, Section 26 of the Mississippi (1890) and Miranda v Arizona.

V. STATEMENT OF CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

Eddie Lamont Henderson was indicted by the grand jury of Panola County, Ms.

Second Judicial District on August 22, 2007 for the burglary of the dwelling of Linda

Jefferson with the intent to commit larceny in violation of section 97-17-23 MCA.

Clerk's record at 5. A waiver of arraignment was filed with the circuit clerk on

October 17th, 2007. Id. at 2. He proceeded to trial before the petit jury on March

17th, 2008. The petit jury returned a verdict of guilty of the aforesaid charge. R.

at 72. A poll of the petit jury pursuant to URCCCP 3. 10 indicated that the verdict was unanimous. R. at 73. The Appellant's motion for a new trial and in the alternative for a JNOV was filed and denied by the trial court. Clerk's record at 21-23. The trial court sentenced the Appellant to a term of five years in the Mississippi Department of

Corrections to be followed by five years of post-release supervision. Id. at 24-27.

The Appellant then filed a notice of appeal with the circuit clerk. Id. at 28.

B. APPELLEE'S TRIAL WITNESSES

LINDA JEFFERSON

Linda Faye Jefferson testified that on January 1, 2007 that she lived at 107 Martin Luther King, Panola Apartments, Batesville, Ms. R. at 12. During the early morning of that day she heard a knock and kicking at her door. Id. She cracked the door of her apartment and a person entered her apartment, grabbed her wrist and told her "We ain't going nowhere." Id. She recognized the face of this person, but did not know his name. Id. She struggled with him for a while, got away and ran next door and called the police. Id. This person pushed his way into her apartment. R. at 13.

When the police officer arrived, she went with him to her apartment and this person was still in her apartment. R. at 15. He ran from the police officer, but was caught and placed in handcuffs. R. at 16. Ms. Jefferson knew of the Appellant from the neighborhood. Id. She denied that she had ever been friends with him. R. at 17. Nor had she socialized nor had any kind of relationship with him. Id. He had never been in her apartment prior to that day. Nor did he have her permission to enter her apartment that day. Id. She identified two photographs of the door of her apartment with mud on it taken on the day in question. R. at 17-18.

On cross examination Ms. Jefferson testified that she was single. R. at 19. She could not testify as to whether there was anything unusual about the Appellant that day. R. at 20. He had never came to her apartment to dry off because he was wet. R. at 21. Jamie Johnson is one of her next door neighbors. R. at 22.

On redirect examination Ms. Jefferson denied that Mr. Johnson had ever introduced her to the Appellant. R. at 24.

ISSAC MILTON

Issac Milton testified that he is the next door neighbor to Ms. Jefferson. R. at 25. She came to his apartment early on January 1, 2007 and advised him that someone was trying to break in on her. R. at 26. She appeared to be afraid. Id. He let her use his telephone to call the police. Id. He later gave a statement to the police officer about the information that he had on this matter. R. at 27. He knew the Appellant and had never seen him to associate with Ms. Jefferson. R. at 29.

On cross examination, Mr. Milton testified that his apartment had a peephole and that the apartments in his complex were designed about the same. R. at 30. He did

not hear any disturbance that morning. Id. Ms. Jefferson did not tell that anyone tried to rape her or assault her. R. at 31.

NICK HUGHES

Nick Hughes testified that on January 1, 2007 he was a patrolman for the City of Batesville, Ms. police department. He responded to a call at Ms. Jefferson's apartment. R. at 32. She ran to his patrol car and told him that "He's in my house." R. at 33. Officer Hughes went to the apartment and saw the Appellant putting a candle from in the apartment in his coat pocket. R. at 35. He asked the Appellant what he was doing and he just stood there and did not say anything. Id. Officer Hughes told the Appellant to put the candle down and he did so. The Appellant later took off running. He chased the Appellant, apprehended him and placed him in the squad car. R. at 36. He placed the Appellant in custody. Id. The Appellant appeared to be highly intoxicated. Id. He took a photograph of Ms. Jefferson's door with a muddy footprint on it. R. at 37. The Appellant hardly said anything to him. R. at 41.

On cross examination Officer Hughes testified that he could not remember whether Ms. Jefferson's apartment had a peephole. R. at 41. The Appellant was placed under arrest after was chased down. R. at 42.

After redirect examination of Officer Hughes the Appellee preliminarily rested its case. The Appellant's motion for a directed verdict was denied. R. at 46.

C. APPELLANT'S TRIAL WITNESSES

EDDIE HENDERSON

The Appellant testified that he met Ms. Jefferson about two and a half years prior to the trial. R. at 49. He met her at Panola Apartments. Jamie Johnson introduced

Ms. Jefferson to the Appellant. R. at 50. He had socialized with her and went to her apartment one day when he was soaking wet so that he dry off. Id. He talked to her on a porch one day. Id. He had sexual relations with her. Id.

According to Mr. Henderson on the day in question he went to knock on Mr. Johnson's door, but he was asleep. Therefore, he went to Ms. Jefferson's apartment. She came to the door, opened it, and stood there and talked to him. R. at 50-51. She suddenly walked off and the police were then at the door. R. at 51. He was taken to jail. Id. He did not force his way into Ms. Jefferson's apartment. She opened the door. Id.

On cross examination Mr. Henderson testified that his sexual relationship with Ms. Jefferson was "a one night stand." R. at 52. He was not drunk on January 1, 2007. Id. Ms. Jefferson walked calmly next door. R. at 54. He had been to her apartment three or four times. R. at 56. She knew his face because he lived two houses down from her sister and she came to visit her sister. Id. He denied that he ran from the police officer. R. at 59. He did not do anything and thus did not have a reason to run. R, at 60.

WILLIE JAMES JOHNSON

Willie James Johnson testified that on January 1, 2007 that he lived at the Panola Apartments in Batesville, Ms. R. at 60-61. He knew both Ms. Jefferson and the Appellant. R. at 62. He introduced Ms. Jefferson to Mr. Henderson. Id. The Appellant went over to her house. Id. On the day in question a man named Fats dropped the Appellant off at the apartment complex. R. at 63. Mr. Johnson refused to take him home because he wanted to sleep. R. at 65. The Appellant was drinking. R. at 67.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in overruling the Appellant's objection and motion for a mistrial related to the assistant district attorney's question to the Appellant on cross examination as to why he did not come tell the police his reason for being at the apartment of Ms. Jefferson and give the police a statement.

The Appellant was not required to provide the police with a statement of his version of events that occurred on the day in question and the assistant district attorney should not have been permitted by the trial court to inquire into this fact before the petit jury.

VII. ARGUMENT

During the cross examination of the Appellant the assistant district attorney asked him if he had this perfectly good reason why he was at the apartment of Ms. Jefferson, and he knew he had been charged and was going to trial, then why did not he just come and tell the police and clear everything up on the front end. R. at 57. The Appellant objected and moved for a mistrial. He argued to the trial court that the Appellant did not have to explain why he did not give the police a statement. Id. The assistant district attorney responded that the Appellant did have a right to remain silent, but gave up that right here today. R. at 58. The trial court responded that it would overrule the objection in the context that this has come down. It was of the opinion that this question was a legitimate question. Id. The trial court permitted the trial to continue thus overruling the motion for a mistrial as well. Id.

Procedurally, the Appellant preserved this issue for review by lodging a contemporaneous objection to this evidence and obtaining a ruling from the trial court on the objection and motion. <u>Gatlin v. State</u>, 724 So. 2d 359, 369 (Miss. 1998) and <u>Byrom v. State</u>, 863 So. 2d 836, 851 (Miss. 2003) and MRE 103 (A)(1).

The Appellant included this issue in his motion for a new trial and in the alternative for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict. Clerk's record at 21-22. Thus, the next procedural hurdle was met in preserving this issue for review. **Fears v. State**, 779 So. 2d 1125, 1127 (Miss. 2004). At the hearing on the motion for a new trial and in the alternative for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the Appellant argued that the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article 3

Section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 and Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (U.S. 1966). A criminal defendant has a right to remain silent when confronted by a law enforcement officer. Miranda, supra. The Appellant was clearly placed under arrest outside of the apartment complex by Officer Hughes. R. at 36. The Appellant cited the trial court to Lenard v. State which held that the police officer improperly testified that the defendant gave no statement. Mr. Leonard argued that the sole purpose of this action was to attack his credibility by informing the petit jury that he made no statements of self-defense when arrested. However, the court went on to hold that this error was harmless because Mr. Leonard chose to voluntarily testify and thus the State was entitled to test his credibility. The State could do so by questioning whether his prior words and actions were consistent with the testimony which he was then offering in court. See also, Bogart v. State, 624 So. 2d 1313, 1319 (Miss. 1993). Unlike, the facts in Lenard, Mr. Henderson version of events to the petit juror went beyond his statement to Officer Hughes that who testified that he was not saying a whole lot. R. at 36. When the officer asked the Appellant what he was doing in the apartment, he never said a word to the officer. R. at 35.

The assistant district attorney responded to the Appellant's argument by indicating that the Appellee's position was that when the Appellant took the witness stand to testify in his own behalf that he "opened the door" to be questioned on this subject matter and why he did not explain his version of events on the front end. R. at 85-86. The assistant district attorney went on to tell the trial court that the basis for his inquiry was that the Appellant told Officer Hughes that he did not do anything

wrong on the scene. He wanted to know why he was going into custody. And if he had a perfectly reasonable explanation for it, the assistant district attorney thought that he could have told the officer at that time. R. at 88.

The right to remain silent includes the right not to offer an explanation of events. The Appellant did not give a written nor tape-recorded statement to Officer Hughes. A criminal defendant may suffer prejudice by the state eliciting testimony of his refusal to write or record a statement which can be construed to cast doubt on his truthfulness. Sacus v. State, 2005-KA-01515-COA affirmed on March 27, 2007 and Griffin v, State, 557 So. 2d 542 (Miss. 1990).

The Appellant argued to the trial court and argues now that this case centered on a credibility question in that the Appellant and Ms. Jefferson had diametrically opposed versions of what happened. Thus, the importance of the information solicited by the assistant district attorney became crucial because of its effect on evaluating the credibility of the Appellant.

The admission of evidence lies within the discretion of the trial court and the trial court may only be reversed if this discretion is abused. **Burton v. State**875 So. 2d 1120 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). The trial court was clearly wrong in admitting this testimony. The Appellant clearly suffered prejudice in the admission of the testimony by having his credibility undermined by this testimony.

The trial court also abused its discretion in denying the Appellant's motion for a mistrial. The trial court must declare a mistrial when there is an error in the proceedings resulting in substantial and irreparable prejudice to the Appellant's case.

Parks v. State 930 So. 2d 383, 386 (Miss. 2006). The admission of the aforesaid

testimony elicited from the Appellant over his trial counsel's objection resulted in substantial and irreparable prejudice to the Appellant and should have been granted.

VIII. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the Appellant urges the Court to hold that the trial court erred in permitting the Appellee to solicit the aforesaid testimony form the Appellant on cross examination and in denying the Appellant's motion for a mistrial.