IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EDDIE LAMONT HENDERSON

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0551

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

**BY: JOHN R. HENRY
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
POST OFFICE BOX 220
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against a judgment of the Circuit Court of Panola County, Second Judicial District, in which the Appellant was convicted and sentenced for his felony of **BURGLARY OF A DWELLING.**

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant brings no challenge to the sufficiency or the weight of the evidence of his guilt. It is thus unnecessary to set forth that evidence in detail. It is sufficient to note that the evidence clearly showed that the Appellant, on 1 January 2007, broke and entered into a dwelling occupied by a Linda Jefferson. The Appellant knocked on Miss Jefferson's door. She opened the door slightly and the Appellant forced his way inside, grabbing Jefferson and telling her that "We ain't going nowhere". After a struggle, Miss Jefferson managed to escape from the

Appellant and sought assistance from a neighbor. Miss Jefferson, though she did not at the time know the Appellant's name, did recognize his face. A policeman was summoned; upon his arrival he found that the Appellant was still in Miss Jefferson's flat. The Appellant then attempted his own escape but was apprehended in the attempt. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 11 - 19).

The policeman testified that he entered Miss Jefferson's apartment, saw the Appellant within it, and saw the Appellant placing a candle into his coat pocket. The Appellant was told to put the candle down and to step outside. The Appellant put the candle down and went to the door, but then he attempted to run. He was apprehended and arrested. The Appellant was very drunk. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 31 - 36).

At trial, the Appellant testified that he knew Miss Jefferson prior to 1 January 2007, and that he had engaged in sexual relations with her. He said that, when he came to her apartment on the morning of 1 January 2007, she opened the door, then walked off, and the next thing he knew he was being arrested. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 47 - 51).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN OVERRULING THE APPELLANT'S OBJECTION DURING THE STATE'S CROSS-EXAMINATION OF HIM AS TO WHY THE APPELLANT DID NOT TELL LAW ENFORCEMENT WHY HE WAS AT THE VICTIM'S APARTMENT AT OR AFTER HIS ARREST

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN OVERRULING THE APPELLANT'S OBJECTION TO THE STATE'S CROSS - EXAMINATION OF HIM ON THE POINT AS WHY THE APPELLANT DID NOT TELL THE POLICEMAN AT THE TIME OF ARREST HIS REASON FOR BEING AT MISS JEFFERSON'S APARTMENT

ARGUMENT

THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN OVERRULING THE APPELLANT'S OBJECTION TO THE STATE'S CROSS - EXAMINATION OF HIM ON THE POINT AS WHY THE APPELLANT DID NOT TELL THE POLICEMAN AT THE TIME OF ARREST HIS REASON FOR BEING AT MISS JEFFERSON'S APARTMENT

In the Assignment of Error presented to this Court, the Appellant contends that the trial court erred when it permitted the prosecutor to cross - examine the Appellant as to why he did not tell the police officer of the reason he testified to at trial for his presence at the victim's apartment. It is claimed that this questioning violated the Appellant's privilege against self - incrimination.

The police officer testified that, when he first encountered the Appellant, while the Appellant was inside the victim's apartment, the Appellant just stood there and did not say anything. The Appellant was not under arrest or in custody at that time. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 35). The Appellant was placed in custody only after he was apprehended after having run away from the officer. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 36)

The officer did later testify that the Appellant did not tell him that he had permission to be in the apartment or that he was in a relationship with the victim, though it is unclear whether the officer was referring to the time prior to or subsequent to arrest. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 41). In any event, there was no objection by the Appellant to this testimony.

The Appellant testified. He stated that he had met the victim some two and a half years prior to trial. He claimed that he socialized with her and, on one occasion, she let him dry himself off when he was soaking wet at her apartment. He claimed that he talked to her all of the time and that on one occasion he had sexual relations with her.

On 1 January 2007, at about half past five in the morning, he said he showed up at her

apartment. She opened the door and spoke to him. Then she walked off, leaving him at the door, and the next thing he knew he was being arrested. He said he asked the arresting officer, "What did I do?". (R. Vol. 2, pp. 48 - 51).

On cross - examination, relevant to the issue here, the prosecutor went over the Appellant's story of how well - acquainted he supposedly was with the victim. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 51 - 56). He then asked the Appellant why he did not explain to the police why he was at the victim's apartment, if he had such a perfectly good reason for being there. The Appellant objected to this question, asserting that he did not have to explain why he did not give a statement to the police, and he moved for a mistrial. The objection was overruled. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 57 - 58).

It is certainly true that a person in custody has the right to refuse to make a statement to law enforcement. It is certainly true that an accused may not be compelled to testify at trial. However, it is equally true that, where an accused elects to testify in his defense, his election to do so operates as a waiver of the privilege against self - incrimination. Where an accused testifies, he is subject to a cross- examination as broad as any other witness might be subject to. Once the cloak of the privilege against self - incrimination is set aside, it may not be reclaimed, unless, of course, the answers might suggest that the accused be guilty of some other, separate and independent crime. *Hentz v. State*, 496 So.2d 668 (Miss. 1986); *Autry v. State*, 230 Miss. 421, 92 So.2d 856 (1957); *See also Lenard v. State*, 828 So.2d 232, 235 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)(Where an accused elects to testify at his trial, he places his credibility in issue, and the State may test it through an examination of his prior words and acts)

In the case at bar, the question put by the prosecutor was clearly an attempt call into question the veracity of the Appellant's testimony to the effect that he was a good acquaintance

of the victim. This was perfectly legitimate. While it may be true that the Appellant had no duty to explain anything to the police officer, this point misses the point. The Appellant was on cross - examination, had waived his privilege against self - incrimination, and, regardless of whether at the time or just before his arrest he was possessed of the privilege against self - incrimination, he had no such right after electing to testify. An accused who chooses to testify at his trial does not have a privilege to choose what questions relevant to the issues in the case he will and will not answer on cross - examination.

The Appellant cites a “Lenard v. State” in support of his contention. Yet, nowhere does the Appellant provide a proper citation for this alleged decision. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 82; Brief for the Appellant at iii and 8. We will assume that his obscure reference is to *Lenard v. State*, 828 So.2d 232 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002), which we have cited above.

In *Lenard*, the arresting officer testified that that defendant, other than indicating where his gun was located, made no other statements. Because the officer was pointing his gun at that defendant at the time, the Court found that that defendant was under arrest, and that for that reason it was improper for the State to question the officer about the fact that that defendant made no other statements. However, the error in admitting this testimony was found to be harmless error because the defendant, when he chose to testify, placed his credibility in issue. Consequently, the State properly tested his credibility by questioning whether his prior words and actions were consistent with his testimony. *Lenard*, at 235 - 236.

Here, first of all, the officer’s testimony about the Appellant’s silence was put into evidence without objection by the defense. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 41). Because the defense did not object, no issue can be made of the matter here. The significance of this is that it was already in evidence that the Appellant had made no statement at the time the prosecutor cross - examined

the Appellant. Since it was in evidence, the prosecution properly questioned the Appellant about the fact that he did not tell his trial story to the officer.

Secondly, unlike the facts in *Lenard*, the Appellant was not under arrest when the officer first encountered the Appellant. When the officer first saw the Appellant, the Appellant was standing in the apartment and said nothing. The arrest occurred after the Appellant tried to run away. In *Lenard*, by way of contrast, the defendant there was held at the point of a gun. It was while he was in custody that the officer said he made no statement.

Nonetheless, even if this Court were to find error in the cross - examination complained of, as in *Lenard* any such error would be harmless. The Appellant testified. By doing so, he waived his privilege against self - incrimination. Again, an accused cannot have it both ways: He may not elect to testify and then invoke the privilege should he find himself confronted with uncomfortable questions in consequence of his testimony.

The Appellant further relies upon *Sacus v. State*, 956 So.2d 329 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). In that case, the accused refused to give or sign a written statement, though he gave a voluntary oral statement. It was argued that to comment upon the accused's refusal to give a written or recorded statement was no different than commenting on his invocation of his privilege against self - incrimination. The issue went against the accused in that case, but what relevance the issue has here is obscure at best. There was no oral statement, no refusal to give a written or recorded statement. Also, unlike *Sacus*, the Appellant never invoked his privilege against self - incrimination. In the case at bar, the Appellant simply did not say anything to the officer as to his reason for being in the victim's apartment. There was no comment by the prosecutor in the case at bar concerning an invocation of that privilege.

The Appellant also cites *Bogard v. State*, 624 So.2d 1313 (Miss. 1993). That decision,

however, concerns the propriety of the use of a voluntary statement for impeachment purposes, allegedly made after that defendant invoked his privilege against self - incrimination. There was no statement made by the Appellant before or after his arrest, and there was no invocation of the privilege.

In the case at bar, it was established during the State's case - in - chief that the Appellant made no statement just before or after his arrest, without objection. That being so, the State properly questioned the Appellant on cross - examination about the fact that he did not tell the police officer what he told the jury as it concerned his reason for being at the victim's apartment. In any event, because the Appellant elected to testify, he waived his privilege against self - incrimination. The prosecutor's questions about his silence at or before his arrest were perfectly proper questions. Consequently, the trial court did not err in overruling the Appellant's objection to the prosecutor's questions on the point, and did not err in refusing to declare a mistrial.

The Assignment of Error is without merit.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.